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restricted constitution of any corporation or bod liti
3 el

:ﬁhﬂﬁgahﬁr e*.;erit,r Fta:;llludw has an equal voice inrii?; =.:1i]'xa-.irs::l
vote in the decisi ;
fﬂliﬁi ﬂ'l%r o, 1sion of all matters that come be=
1& President is elected in each year on the Mondav after
Palm &unds\ny, by a method closely resembling that {uf the
College of Lardma_ls in the election of a Pope. The Fellows
having assembled in the great library of the Cellege and the
office of President, having been declared vacant, proceed to
the election of any Fellow of not less than ten years’ stand-
Ing. No preposal is made, but each Fellow writes on a slip

ollege of

Fig. 1.—Thomas Linacre, first President of the Royal €
Physicians, died October 20th, 1524,

of paper the name whieh he approves; the votes thus given
are collected in a silver bowl, are publicly enumerated, and
the decision announced to the College by its semier Censor,
the officer next to the President in dignity. A second voting
on the names of the two Fellows who obtain most votes,
where several are proposed, i sometimes necessary, and an
absolute majority then determines the election. At the con-
c¢lusion the Bedell of the College carries round a dish from
which he gives each Fellow present a new half erown piece.
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the College, an election in which the College always at
importance to character as well as to a.i;t.au.i11gr|ruau:d.‘.|;.Ilr i i
he history of the Society, which has been set forth with
exhaustive research by Dr.”Munk in his * Roll of the Royal
College of Physicians of London,” shows that the College has
had wvery few unworthy Fellows, and that of all the really
great physicians of London during nearly four centuries, only
one, otherwise eligible, failed to become a Fellow of the Col-
lege.. It has been suggested that some transaction connected

Fig. 3.—FPart of the buildings of the old College of Physicians in
Warwick Lane, formerly containing the Library, ete. . The ruined
arch on the lefit formed part of a niche containing a statue of
Charles II. (From a photograph taken May, 158856.)

with the Great Rebellion may have stood in the way of the
election of Dr. Thomas Sydenham after the restoration of the
monarchy and our liberties in 1660, but the GG]]E%? records
which are throughout free from ai%na of political ort eolqgicai
animuﬂ;&)rﬂve the contrary, and show that the College highly

him, would gladly have elected him, and only did
not do so because, for some fancy of his own, he did not de-
sire to become a Fellow.
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The College from 1518 till the middle of thereign of James 1
held its meetings in a house given to it by Linacre in Knight
Rider Street, on the south side of St. Paul’s Cathedral. It
then moved to Amen Corner, to the north-west of the
Cathedral, where are now the houses of the canons residen-
tiary, but after the great fire, in which its buildings were de-
stroyed, it was rebuilt at the end of Warwick Lane, an ancient
street which takes its present name from the house once sitnate
in it of the great Earl of Warwick, the kingmakerof the Wars of
the Roses, but which had existed many centuries before his
time under the designation of Eldenes Lane. Here the Col-
lege remained till it removed to its present site in Pall Mall
East. The present building was opened on June 25th, 1825,
All the meetings of the College take place in this building;
here the examinations for the Membership are held,
and here the public lectures of the College are usually de-
livered.

If a lecturer desires to exhibit elaborate experiments or
apparatus during his lecture he usunally obtains leave to
deﬁver it in the larger theatre of the Examination Hall on
the Embankment, where the College of Physicians, in con-
junction with the Royal College of Surgeons of England,
holds conjoint examinations for candidates who desire to
receive its licence and at the same time to be admitted
Members of the Royal College of Surgeons, and where the
two Colleges maintain laboratories for pathological research,
open free under proper restrictions to members of the medi-
cal profession.

Numerous medical lectures are delivered during the year
at the College in Pall Mall East, called, after their founders,
the Lumleian, Goulstonian, Croonian, Bradshaw, and Milroy
lectures, and an Oration in honour of Harvey and in praise of
the benefactors of the College is delivered on St. Luke's
Day. As the College income is amall it seldom gives a public
dinner, but the Fellows dine together at their own cost and
charge four times a year, and sometimes also entertain a few
guests after the Harveian Oration.

But if the aroma of rich viands, the glitter of splendid
plate, and the free flow of choice wines which are asssociated
with so many ancient and well-endowed corporations in Lon-
don are not to be sought at the Royal College of Physicians,
its rooms afford ample subject for that *‘ sweet discourse, the
banguet of the mind” of which Dryden speaks, a poet to
whom special funeral honours were paid by the College. In
the portico are the statunes of Linacre as the person chiefly
concerned in the original foundation ; of Harvey, the greatest
discoverer helungiing to the College; and of Sydenham,
a Licentiate of the College, the greatest expositor of the
modern method of medicine—three figures which, besides
commemorating these great men, typify the relations of our
profession to learning in general, to the natural sciences, and
to clinical observation. On the left of the hall into which
the entrance leads is the College reading room, which is open
to all Licentiates and Members as well astothe Fellows. On
its walls are numerous portraits of Fellows famous in former
times, each with the name and date.

There are also portraits of two Fellows still living—Sir Wil-
liam Jenner, formerly President, one of the most illustrious
modern foliowers of the method of Sydenham, and Sir Henry
Pitman, Emeritus Registrar of the College, the storehouse of
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all its honourable traditions, and the highest anthority on
its procedure. Just inside the door are five physicians of the
family of Monro who were successively Fellows of the College
between 1720 and 1890. Atthe far end of the room isthe full-
length figure of Sir William Browne, President of the College
in 1767, and well known by name to all Cambridge men
as the founder of the medals for classical verse. The artist
was Thomas Hudson, the master of Sir Joshua Reynolds.

On the wall opposite the windows are many physicians
known in English history. Bir John Micklethwaite, the
successor of Harvey as physician to St. Bartholomew’s: Sir
Fdmund King, who us¢d to do chemical experiments with
King Charles 11, and who bled him at the sudden onset of
his last illness so as to produce a brief temporary restoration
of the King's senses ; Sir Hans Sloane, whose collections form
the basis of the British Museum ; Dr. Paris, President of the
College, whose life of Sir Humphry Davy and many other
books were once widely read; Dr. Riehard Bright, physician
to Guy’s Hospital, known to all students of pathology in
relation to the group of renal diseases bearing his name;
Messenger Monsey, whose subseguent success as a physician
was due to his attendance on the owner of one of the earliest
and most famous of English racehorses, and whose talk suited
the host and the company at the hilarious table of Sir Robert
Walpole. Dr. Johnson spoke vehemently about his conversa-
tion, and when the Bishop of Dromore tried to diminish the
force of the censure. attacked Dr. Percy and Monsey with
renewed severity. However wanting in restraint Monsey’s
conversation may have been, it was never heard in the
College, for he did not attain any higher standing than that
of extra Licentiate.

On the opposite wall to Sir William Browne, besides those
of Sir Andrew Clark and Sir William Jenner, there is a por-
trait of Dr. Francia Glisson, President in 1667, and author of
the Tractatus de Rachitide, published in 1650, the first
thorough book on a single disease by an English physician,
a work admirable in its careful morbid anatomy as well as in
its clinical observations. On the same wall is Dr. Walter
Charleton, President in 1689, the author of several books on
medicine and on metaphysics as well as on natural science, all
more remarkable for ingenuity than profundity. Except by
that late learned Oxonian Mr. Mark Pattison and a few among
the junior Fellows of the College, who sometimes *‘ waste time
by reading obsolete books, his volumes have probably rarel’y
been looked into sinee his death in 1707, but Dryden’s
Epistle to Dr. Charleton, the finest tribute of just praise which
English poetry has paid to English science, will for ever pre-
gerve him from oblivion in spite of his Spiritus Gorgonicus,
which maintains the existence of a stone-forming spirit or
essence in the human body, his dialogues between Athanasius
and Lucretius in the presence of Isodicastes, his Deliramenta
Catarrhi and the Physiologia Epicuro-Gassendo-Charitoniana,
which maintains the interesting hypothesis that since the vast
number of 295,232,799,039,604,140 847,618,609,643,520,000,000
combinations are attainable among the twenty-six letters of
the alphabet, varied arrangements of numerous atoms may
be the cause of the differences of appearance and structure
in material substances. _ ; _

On the staircase of the College there is an interesting por-
trait of Sir Theodore Mayerne, who was physician first to
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In the principal place in the library is Jansen’s portrait of
Harvey, painted from the life, and in the gallery al:lr]nve it are
a series of dried preparations of the vascular system prepared
by the hands of the great discoverer of the circulation. Over
the ﬁreElacea; on each side of the central one, are portraits
of Dr. Baldwin Hamey a Fellow and benefactor of the
Gollegea who died in 1676; and of Dr. Radcliffe, a benefactor
of the College and of his own University of Oxford, as well
as of S5t. Bartholomew’s Hospital. On one mantelpiece is a
curious little figure, in painted unbaked clay, of Dr. Anthony
Askew, Physician to St Bartholomew’s Hospital. a Fellow of
Emmanuel College, Cambridge, who lived till 1774 in Queen
Square, Bloomsbury. The figare, which shows Askew in his
ecarlet gown as a Cambridge Doctor of Medicine, was made
for him by a Chinaman whom he had treated. The College
also. possesses a fine bust by Roubiliac of Dr. Mead, pre-
sented by this learned physician and student of Arig-
tophanes, and has also busts of Matthew Baillie, of Hal-
ford by Chantry, of Harvey by Scheemakers, and several
others. One of these was lent for exhibition at the Royal
Academy, and was returned with a black mark on it cansed
by a surreptitious at{:remdpt there to take a cast of it. The
College has gince declined to lend any of its works of art ; nor
ig it necessary that they should be lent, as they are always
open to the view of the learned or the curious on application.

In a case at the end of the library are preserved several
valuable and curious objects—the mace of the College and
the caducens, the silver-mounted rod which Harvey used in
demonstrating anatomy, the silver bowl in which votes are
taken, several other pieces of plate, and the gold headed
cane which was successively the property of Dr. Radeliffe,
who died 1714 ; Dr. Mead, who died 1754 ; Dr. Askew, who died
1774; Dr. William Pitcairn, who died 1791 ; Dr. David Pit-
cairn, who died in 1809 ; and Dr. Matthew Baillie, after whose
death in 1823 this interesting relic bearing arms of its several
possessors was given to the College by Mrs. Baillie.

A frame at this end of the library contains an account,
gigned by the physicians who were present, of the translation
(during the presidency of Sir William Jenner) of the remains
of Harvey from the ruinous vault in which they lay wrapped
in lead into a white marble sarcophagus in the Harvey chapel
of the parish church of Hempstead, in Essex. The transla-
tion took place on St. Luke's Day, 1883. Many of the Fellows
whose signatures attest it have since joined the majority, but
the survivors will always retain a vivid recollection of that
cloudy day, of the out-of-the-way village with its bull-baiting
rini remainin g. of the partly unroofed lonely church, of the
flock of rooks flying in great circles in the air above some tall
trees, cawing loudly while the leaden case was being raised
from the vault outside the church, of the slow adjustment of
the lid of the white marble sarcophagus within while Sir
William Jenner, with the silver Eagucettﬂ in his hand, reso-
lutely stood by to the very end, of the venerable aspect of the
Regius Professors of Physic from Gﬂ'mbridge and from Oxford,
of Sir Andrew Clark with a volume of Butler's Sermonsunder his
arm, and of the other Fellows, successors of those who more
than two certuries before had paid the last honours to
Harvey. : -

To the left of the record of Harvey’s translation is a door
leading by a very narrow staircase to the lecture theatre of
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Fig. 8. —Facsimile (veduced) of a pencil sketeh by the late Sir Richard Owen. made while he was curator,

in the main corrider of the Musenm at that time (before the rebuildin

slhol'-'ing the arrangement of objects
).
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displayed in the large and small New Mugeus, and also oe-
eulffnea alittle more than half of the Western Museum. The first
gallery of the Small New Museum is devoted to Teratology
and Parasites, and the upper one to the display of drawings
and to the extension of the Dermatological series. e
Pathological specimens occupy the galleries of the Western
and the New Large Mugeume. In the Western, the six tables
nearest the entrance are devoted to the external forms of the
Invertebrata, with a few epecimens showing their general
anatomy ; the four following tables are occupied by prepara-
tions illustrating the Development of the Human Eﬁeletnn.
On the eastern side is the series of Comparative Osteology ;
this is continued in similar cases in the Middle and Eastern
Mugeums. From this geries special parts have been selected
for more ready comparison ; these are displayed in upright
cagses in the Eastern Museum, In the galleries of the
Eastern and Middle Museums the Physiological  series
will be found. There is a small room in the annexe devoted
Eoltihe collection of Surgical Instruments belonging to the
ollege.

Tae LisrAny.

At the present day the College possesses a good lpmfea—
gional libra.rg. It was not until some years after the founda-
tion of the College that any real steps were taken to put
together a library in any way worthy of the institution. The
ol Gc}-ﬁmration of Burgeons had intended to form a library
but had never carried their intention into effect. In 1786
Tohn Hunter addressed a letter to the Corporation in which
he states that the fact of their not being possessed of a publie
gurgical library is ‘‘a circumstance so extraordinary that
EOTEI%DEIH can hardly believe it.” He suoggests that all
members ghould send copies of their own works to the Cor-
ﬁura.t.ion Library, and to give practical effect to his proposal

e presented the books he himself had published. This pro-
duced little or no effect, and in 1790 we find Mr. Gunning,
the retiring Master, complaining of the conduct of the Court
in not taking steps to form a library. Even Master Gunning
was very modest in his idea of what the library should be, as
he suggested that the eum of £80 a year would be sufficient
for the purpose. After the establishment of the College, very
little more was done in the way of starting a library than had
been accomplished by the old Corporation. The first grant,
made in 1800, was a sum not exceeding £50; for many years
the annunal cost was less than the modest £80 suggested by
Mr. Gunning. Sir Charles Blicke, in 1816, invested the sum of
£300, the interest of which was to be spent on the library;
in addition to this he was a liberal donor of books. It was
not until the year 1827 that any real effort was made to form
a library warl:gy of the College. In the years 1827-29 the sum
of £5,269 was spent on the purchase of books, and in the last-
named year Dr. Willis was aﬁgﬂinted librarian. In rebuilding
the College in 183536 the library department was well pro-
vided for; the increase of books in recent years had, however,
made this accommodation very inadequate, and in 1888 the
Council made very considerable alterations by which the
comfort of readers was greatly increased and much additional
book space was given. The whole of the library was re-
decorated and the electrie light was installed throughout.
In the library there is a large collection of engraved portraits.
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The nucleus of this was the Young and Wadd collections ; the
latter was originally put together by Fauntleroy, the banker,
who was hanged for forgery. The collection has gone on

ually increasing by purchase and donation. In 1893 it
received a very considerable addition by the presentation by
Mr. T. Madden Stone of his extensive and valuable series of
portraits and autographs. Recently the College has had
presented to it by the family of the late Mr. W. Hunter Baillie
a very interesting series of letters, containing communica-
tlons from Boerhaave, John and William Hunter, Dr. Arbuth-
not, Joanna Baillie, and many ether celebrities not con-
nected with the profession.

Ter CoxstrruTioN OF THE COLLEGE.

By the Charter of 1800 the government of the Royal College
of Surgeons in London was vested in the Court of Assistants,
which consisted of twenty-one members, one of whom was
styled Master and two others Governors. Eighteen of the
members of the first Court of Assistants were nominated in
the Charter, the remaining three were ordered to be filled up

the Court at its first meeting. The Charter of 1822
changed the names of Master and Governors to those of
President and Vice-Presidents, and the Court of Assistants was
in future to be called the Council. In 1843 a further change
was made in the name of the College : the Charter obtained in
that year orders that in future the title gshall be ** The
College of Surgeons of England;” by this same Charter the
Fellowship was established. The Council was bound to elect
not fewer than 250 and not more than 300 Members to the
Fellowship within three months of the granting the Charter.
Accordingly, on December 11th, 1843, 300 Members were
appoint ellows by one diploma, and on August 26th, 1844,

were elected. The number of members of Council was
increased to twenty-four, and it was enacted that in future
three members should retire annually, an exception being
made in favour of those who were on the Council at the time
the Charter was granted. These were to hold office for life,
a8 heretofore. The Council was no longer to be a self-elected
body, the Charter declaring that, in future, the election shall
be in the hands of the Fellows. 1t was also decided that the
Court of Examiners should no longer be restricted to mem-
bers of Council, but that any Fellow, whether on the Council
or not, might be elected an examiner. Further alterations
were made by the Charter of 1852: by this power was given
to the Council to confer the Fellowship, without examina-
tion, on Members who were of fifteen years’ standing in
SBeptember, 1843, the date of the previous Charter. The
Council was also authorised to admit each year to the Fellow-
sbip two Members of twenty years’ standing, and power was
ﬂv&n to grant the Fellowship to Fellows, Members, and

centiates of other Colleges.

ExAMINATIONS.

Up to 1884 the examinations for the Fellowship and
Membership were conducted by the Court of Examiners in
the College building. In that year the two Royal Colleges
co-operated to form a common Board for granting their
diplomas in Medicine and Surgery. The Fellowship examina-
tion remains as before, but the Membership of the College of
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charter gave the Soeiety power to have a hall or eonncil
house. In 1618 Gideon Delaune, chief apothecary to Anne
of Denmark, and one of the retinue sent to &tte:ﬁ her from
Norway when she became the wife of James I, was instrumen-
tal in acquiring a building for the purpose in Blackfriars.
This building was purchased by the Society in 1633. 1t then
consisled of a house and grounds known as Cobham House, in
Water Lane, Blackfviars, immediately behind what is now
Ludgate Hill 8tation. It was then an open space leading
down to the water gate on the west side of Baynard’s Castle,
The first hall was destroyed by the Great Fire of London in
1666, and its site lay vacant for ten years before it was
rebuilt. The second hall was enlarged and improved in
1786, and it still stands,

The Apothecaries from an early period devoted their
energies to the preparation and sale of pure drugs, and
when their property was destroyed by the Great Fire they
set to work to build laboratories long before any attempt
was made to provide themselves with a new hall. The pre-
paration of pure drugs was expensive and not very remune-
rative, at a time when the most ordinary chemical processes
were hardly understood. Some members of the Society,
therefore, felt themselves compelled to subsidise this side
of the Company’s work. In 1670 the laboratory was first
established, and a number of the members of the Society
formed a kind of joint stock in order to procure chemicals
goley for their own use. For many years the sale was con-
fined to these subscribing members; but a degree of reputa-
tion attaching to this establishment, other persons began to
buy, and the premises had to be enlarged. In the reign of
Queen Anne, Prince George of Denmark, who was then Lord
Hiﬁh Admiral, applied to the Society to know if they would
undertake the service of the navy, which was then very badly
supplied with drugs. The Society agreed to do so, and were
thereby drawn into a long series of quarrels with the College
of Physicians, whose Members thought that it was the duty
of an apothecary ‘‘to remember his office is only to be the
physician’s cooke.” The stock was amalgamated in 1823, and
was finally dissolved in 1880, when the Corporation deter-
mined to carry on the business in the name of the Court of
Assistants. ! A

A knowledge of simples was of necessity a matter of im-

ortance to a compounder of medicines at a time when in-
usions, tinetures, distillates, and the crude herbs were the
chief forms in which remedies were administered. Her-
borizings or botanical excursions soon formed a prominent
feature in the Society. The numerous gardens in the im-
mediate neighbourhood of the hall were at first sufficient for
the purposes of economic botany, but in a few years
the Society found it expedient to rent a physic garden,
and in 1673 the Botanic Garden at Chelsea was leased
to the Apothecaries for a term of sixty-one years, by
Charles Cheyne, Esq., lord of the manor, In 1731 Sir Hans
Sloane (the new lord) gave the ground to the Society for ever,
on condition that it should annually present to the Royal
Society fifty well-cured specimens of plants, the produce of
the said garden, until the preparations reached the number
of 2,000. The Society made excellent use of this gift, and for
many years it maintained the teaching of systematic botany
in London at a very high level of excellence,
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1751. What Nourse and Pott were doing privately at 8t.
Bartholomew’s Hospital, Sharp, Bmmﬁ%lﬁ, mﬂIr antl;:
Nicholls were carrying out more publicly elsewhere. In 1746
Sharp relinquished his course of lectures on anatomy and
surgery in favour of Willlam Hunter.

The advertisement announcing this course of lectures is
still extant in the newspapers of 1746, where it may be read
that “On Monday, the 1st of February, at Five in the After-
noon, will begin A course of Anatomical Lectures. To which
will be added, the Operations of Surgery, with the Applica-
tion of Bandages, by William Hunter, Surgeon. Gentlemen
may have an opportunity of learning the Art of Dissecting,
during the whole winter season, in the same manner ag at
Paris.” The lectures were a continuation of those given by
Sharp to a ‘ Bociety of Navy SBurgeons,” and they were
delivered at the house of Dr. James Douglas, in the Piazza,
Covent Garden, They resulted in a gain to Hunter of seventy
guineas for the first conrse. The lectures were not very
successful, however, but they are of interest as they proved
to be the germ from which the Great Windmill Street school
of Medicine developed.

William Hunter continued to teach, and removed first to
Litchfield Street, Soho, and afterwards to Jermyn Street.
Here in 1756 John Hunter began to take a share in the
Anatomical School. The task of lecturing, however, was
never a congenial one, for he had an awkward delivery, and
was go extremely nervous that to the end of his life he never
gave the first lecture of his course without drinking 30 drops
of landanum to take off the effects of his uneasiness. In
1760, being in weak health, he applied for an appoint-
ment in the army, and was detailed for service with the
expedition to Belle Isle, Hewson taking his place in the
Anatomical School. In 1765 William Elnnt.er applied to
the Government for a grant of part of the ground now
occupied by the National Gallery for the purpose of
building a School of Anatomy. The propozal was declined,
and he thereupon commenced to build a house, with a
lecture theatre, dissecting rooms, and a museum, in Great
Windmill Street, close to what is now Piccadilly Circus.
He removed into this house in 1768, and, his connection with
Hewson being severed, he was first assisted by Cruikshank.]

William Hunter died in 1783, and in the following year
Cruikshank attached to himselfi Mathew Baillie, son of
Dorothy, the Hunters’ youngest sister. Cruikshank and
Baillie took James Wilson as a demonstrator in 1785, and
when Baillie quitted the school and received £4,000 for his
share in it, Wilson became associated with Cruikshank as
Joint Anatomical Lecturer until Crunikshank’s death in 1800.
In 1807 Wilson bought the freehold of the premiges in Great
Windmill Btreet, and he was assisted first by Honoratus
Leigh Thomas and afterwards by Benjamin Brodie. Until
the advent of Brodie the main work of the school devolved
upon Wilson, for Thomas was not fond of his vocation, and
was led to play truant a good deal. The work was so far from
exhausting Wilson’s energies, however, that he delivered lec-
tures on surgery at his private residenca in Great Queen
Street, Lincoln’s Inn Fields, and afterwards in Argyle Stree
and he had also pupils living in his house, for Mr. Samue
Lane, the founder of the Grosvenor Place School of Medicine,

was one of them.

TR
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the steak. His meal being ended, he drank the remainder of
the brandy, having during dinner consumed the tankard
of ale, and he then finished the bottle of port. He thus spent
an hour and a half of his time, and then returned to his house
in Easje: Street., He made no other meal until his return to
Dolly’s next day at 4 o’clock. He eventually died of gout.

II.—Tae Wese STrERT ScHOOL.

MEepIcAL education in England received a great impetus at
the beginning of the present century. The ﬂﬁ;rler gr;inted to
the College of Surgeons materially improved the position of
that body, whilst the Apothecaries Act of 1815 ensured that
the students received a systematic education by establishing
a suitable examination before they were admitted to the
practice of their profession. The immediate effect of this Act
was to improve materially the guality of medieal teaching in
London. New schools arose which were strictly perﬁnnﬁ to
the founder, and usually died with him, Of these some were
established purely from a mercenary standpoint, whilst some
originated in more or less direct opposition to the medical
school attached to one or other of the hospitals. It has hap-
pened from time to time in the large metropolitan schools,
when the staff has been unusually weak, that the best man
has not been selected on the occurrence of a vacancy, either
from jealousy of his superior attainments, or because a single
" strong mind has over-ridden the better judgment of its
associates. This took place in the case of Edward Grainger,
who established the Webb Street School, and again in the case
of Bamuel Lane, the founder of the Grosvenor Place School of
Medicine, and in each instance the erring medieal school
bitterly repented its lack of judgment, and was made to pay
dearly for its fault.

Edward Grainger, the son of an apothecary in Birmingham,
was born in 1797, and entered the combined Borough hos-
pitals of St. Thomas and Guy’s in 1816 to dress under Sir
Astley Cooper. He worked hard, and became so excellent
an anatomist that Sir Astley recommended him to go home
and open an anatomical school in his native town. He was
admitted a Member of the College of Surgeons on January
17th, 1817, and applied for the post of demonstrator of
anatomy (rendered vacant by the promotion of Joseph
Henry Green), which he desired to hold jointly with Aston
Key. The office, however, was refused him on the ground
that he had no right to it as he had never paid the large fee
then necessary to entitle a student to become a surgeon’s
Eupil. Grainger was looked upon as hardly used, and when

e proposed to give a course of dissections in the summer of
1819, he received the support of thirty or forty students to
whom his teaching ﬂﬂﬁﬂﬂltj" wag well known., e therefore
hired a large attic in the house of a tailor who lived in the
church of Bt. Baviour’s, Southwark. His course was 8o
successful that in the autumn of 1819 he felt himself suffi-
ciently strong to open an anatomical school upon his own
account. He rented a building in Webb BStreet, Snow’'s
Fields, close to the hospitals. This building had been a
Roman Catholiec chapel which had failed for want of fands.
It reverted to its original use for a short time when the
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Dr. Armstrong next to the founder was the right-hand man
of the Webb Street Bchool of Medicine, am:lghis life was
written by Dr, Boott. Born on May 8th, 1784, of very humble
parenta%e, for his father superintended the glass works at
Ayres (Quay, near Bishopwearmouth, he h a defective
early education. In spite of this, he graduated at Edinburgh,
and after successfully establishing himeelf in his native town
in the county of Durham he moved to London in 1817, and
there made a reputation by bleeding and adopting an anti-
ﬁhlugmt.m treatment in typhus fever, then epidemic in

ngland. He presented himself for examination before the
Royal College of Physicians, and much to his own surprise
was rejected. He posed as a martyr, and was elected a phy-
sician to the Fever Hospital in St. Pancras, after which he
‘rapidly attained to a large and fashionable practice. He
continued to lecture at the Webb Street School even after he
had joined Mr. Bennett in 1826 in founding another school in
Little Dean Street, Soho. Hedied of phthisisin December, 1829.

III.—CarpPur's, or THE DEAN STREET, SCHOOL.

Joseph Constantine Carpue descended from a Spanish
Catholie family, was born near London in 1764, and was edua-
cated at Douay. He was intended for the priesthood, but
ﬂ]mn%:ad his mind, and after making some attempta to become
a bookseller, a barrister, and an actor, he finally fixed on sur-
gery as aprofession. He resided for some time in Paris during
the French Revolution, and afterwards studied at 8t. George's
Hospital. He was an enthusiast from the beginning, for
guite early in his career he carried out, at the wish of the
artists West, Banks, and Cosway, an experiment as to how a
recently dead body would hang upon a cross. An opportunity
occurred in 1800, when a murderer named Legg, who had
just been executed, was nailed to a cross which had pre-
viously been erected in a building near the place of execu-
tion, and when cool a cast was made of the corpse. His
vocation as a teacher appears to have been accidentally dis-
covered, for in 1800 a Mr. Norman happened to say to him:
“1 wish I knew anatomy as well as you do.” Carpue replied:
“1f you desire it, I will teach you.” They set to work dili-
gently, and the result was so satisfactory to the pupil that he
ingisted on the acceptance of 20 guineas by his teacher. This
circnmstance suggested to Carpue the first idea of becoming
an anatomical teacher, and the sum thus received fixed the
amount which he afterwards charged each pupil, and which,
to the end of his career, he never altered. He gaid at first
that he would be content if he conld obtain only six Eupila,
but his success was so great that he soon opened a school in
Dean Street, Soho, on the site which 18 now occupied
by the Royalty Theatre. Here he taught anatomy and
the operative part of surgery for nearly thirty years. He
delivered three courses of lectures daily throughout the
year, and, with the exception of a few days in the
summer, without intermission. Twice in the week in the
evening he also gave lectures on surgery. His plan of teach-
ing anatomy was peculiar to himself, for his aim was to make
every student in his class a demonstrator. For this purpose
he first stood before his pupils, and illustrated the points of
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IV.—Brooxes's ScHooL, or THE BLENHEIM STREET OR
GRrEAT MARLBOROUGH STREET SCHOOL,

Brookes’s ScHooL was a private speculation of Joshua
Brookes, the brother of the celebrated menagerie keeper in
lixeter 'Change. He was born November 24th, 1761, and was
a student of the Great Windmill Street School’; and he after-
wards studied under Portal in Paris. His school was gituated
in what is now known as Ramilies Street, at the foot of
Blenheim Steps in Oxford Street, and was the last building
on the left beyond the Mews as one goes down the steps
by the side of Buszard’s shop, just before turning into
Great Marlborough Street, he school was established
golely to teach anat-nmg, and the summer course was
especially well attended ; for Brookes had ‘invented a
method of injecting his subjects with nitre, which fitted
them for .dissection in the hot weather, when ther:
were no regular classes in the large medical schools attached
to the hospitals. For this method he was made a Fellow of
the Royal Society. Mr. South says that he literally spent
the whole of his day in the dissecting room, and that he taught
his students entirely from dissected parts. using neither
plates, diagrams, nor blackboard sketches. He worked with
such assiduity that hewasrecognised throughout Europe as the
best anatomical teacher in London, He also had the reputation
of being the dirtiest professional person it was possible to
conceive; ‘his good reEort always preceded him, and his
filthy bhands begrimed his nose with continual snuff. “In
his ordinary appearance I really know,” says Mr. South, *“no
dirty thing with which he could compare; all and every part
of him was dirt, and his house was no cleaner than his
person; yet he sometimes came out as a pleasant gentlemanly
person in black with a powdered head, cleanish hands, yet
Bnuﬂ;y withal, and not lacking in good manners and informa-
tion.” It was this g%putation, doubtless, which prevented
him from being elected a member of the Council of the Royal
College of Surgeons—a position for which he was eminently
fitted by his attainments in anatomy and in the operative
parts of surgery. It was his hobby to form a museum of
comparative osteology; in pursuit of it—and helped by his
brother, the menagerie keeper—he converted into skeletons
every animal upon which he could lay his hands. The two
upper storeys of his house formed his museum, and his rooms
were g0 crammed with preparations that it was hardly possible
to move in them without knocking something over.

The College of Surgeons declined to recognise a summer
course of anatomical lectures after the year 1824, and from that
time Brookes's echool, like Carpue’s, began to decline, until
from a class of 120 to 150 it dwindled to a few pupils, and he
was compelled to gell his museum piecemeal—a proceeding
which occupied no fewer than twenty-three days, commencing
on March 1st, 1830. He died in Great Portland Street on
January 10th, 1833, just before the opening of the session,
without a single shilling, everything having been spent in
amassing his osteological collection. He was so poor, in fact,
that a subscription was raised to pay his funeral expenses.




Il

Brookes's School (from a water-colour drawing made June, 1817, now in the possession of the Royal College of Surgeons of England).
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anxiety attending his relations with this Assembly which
undoubtedly hastened his end,

Dermott’s school was modelled more upon the Great Wind-
mill Street or Webb btreet Schools than upon Carpue's or
Brookes'’s, for it aimed at giving a complete medical educa-
tion. The fee for perpetual attendance on the eourse of lec-
tures was £22, and the entries were so numerous that Mr.
Clarke says that when he joined the school its alumni
numbered nearly 300. It suffered many migrations in the
courge of Dermott's life, The school was founded in Little
Windmill Street; it was transferred after a time to Chapel
Street, Wardour Street, and thence into a house in Great
Pulteney Street. It was held for a time in the Westminster
Digpensary, in Gerrard Street, Soho, and later in Charlotte
Street, Bloomsbury. This house was required by the Com-
migsioners of etropolitan Improvements in 1845, and
Dermott was compelled to surrender his lease. He then
mmlrjed into Bedford Bquare, where he died two years after-
wards.

Dr. Ryan lectured in the original school for some time
upon medicine. He was one of the physicians to the Western
Dispensary in Charles Street, Westminster, where most of
the students of the school attended as his pupils, for at this
time the Apothecaries’ Company received the certificate of
fifteen months’ attendance at a recognised dispensary as evi-
dence that a candidate for its licence had passed through a
gufficient course of practical medicine. Ryan was editor of
the London Medical and Surgical Journal, but he eventually
became involved in pecuniary difficulties, and died at a com-
1:!aEILrJal.i.;iﬂl.hel;r ear]lﬁ aDga. i

John Epps, M.D., of the London University, lectured npon
materia medica, chemistry, and botany. He was the eldest
gson of a noted ham and beef shopkeeper in London, and
when the school broke up he took to the practice of homdeo-

thy.
p‘E"In:.;lr:a.i‘nm: s Tuson, Guthrie, Jewell,and Sigmond lectured,
and more than maintained the reputation of the Little Wind-
mill Street School.
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of publication is 1784. Though called simply * Medical
Society ” on the title page of the laws, the natgg in the form
of diploma is given as * Societas Medica Londinensis.” In
the list of members an asterisk is prefixed to those who had
occupied the presidential chair. From this it appears that
John Bheldon, F.R.8.; John Jebb, M.D., F.R.8.: Robert
Willan, M.D,; Adair Crawford, M.D.; Andrew Wilson, M.D.:
William Bishop; and Joseph Hurlock, had filled the office.
One of the rules is that ““the President ghall wear his hat
while in the chair,” and another states that “ in order to keep
up a constant fund, each member ghall pay on the first Tues-
day of each month one shilling and sixpence,”

THE SOCIETY FOR THE IMPROVEMENT OF MEDICAL AND
CHIRURGICAL KNOWLEDGE

was founded in 1783 by John Hunter and Dr. Fordyce. Sir
Benjamin Brodie gives the date of its foundation as 1793, but
this is an error, as there is in existence a letter from John
Hunter to Jenner, in which he gpeaks of the formation of the
Bociety, and offers to communicate Jenner’s paper on Tartar
Emetic. This was received in June, 1784, and published in
the first volume of the T'ransactions. The Society was origi-
nally composed of nine members, with a provision that it
might be increased to twelve, but that it should never exceed
that number. Meetings were held once a month at Slanghter's
Coffee House in Bt. Martin’s Lane. The papers communicated
were first read, and then discussed and corrected after dinner.
The Society issued three volumes of Transactions, but after
the publication of the third volume it existed only as a
dining club. On June 2nd, 1818, the Society was formall

dissolved, with the understanding that the minute boo

should remain in the possession of Mr. (afterwards Sir B. C.)
Brodie, the then secretary. At Sir Benjamin’s death the book
came into the possession of Mr. Charles Hawking, by whom
it was presented in 1882 to the Royal Medical and Chirurgical
Society. . The minute book contains the signatures of all the
members (18 in number) excepting Mr, Henry Cline. There
is_an interesting entry under the date October Tth, 1798:
“ There being eo much joy and interest of conversation about
Bir Horatio Nelson's victory, no business was done at this
meeting.,” The Society was evidently a close corporation,
for it is stated that Dr. Roget was proposed as a member,
but that the ballot was not proceeded with when it was dis-
covered that he had taken the office of secretary to another
Society; this was the Medical and Chirurgical, There
was another Society about this date with a very similar title:
“ The Eociet% for Promoting Medical Knowledge.” Two
volumes of actions were published in 1784 and 1790,
under thetitle of ¢ Medical Communications.” The secretaries
were Dr. Edward Gray, of the British Museum, and Mr.
Edward Ford, of Golden Square, Surgeon to the Westminster

General Dispensary.

Tee LycEuM MEDICUM LONDINENSE
was instituted for the advancement of medical knowledge on
January 25th, 1785, under the patronage of Dr. Fordyce and
Mr. John Hunter, The meetings were held at Hunter’s
Lecture Room in Castle Street, Leicester Square. All the
cases read before the Society were entered in a minute book,
and a Committee was appointed to examine them, with power
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Chambers, for Liis own residence; here he entertained all the
leading EF'I_EI:ltrlﬁﬂ and literary men of his day.? The Patho-
logical, Clinical, and Obstetrical Societies held their meet-
ings at the house of the Royal Medical and Chirurgical
Society, which thus became the head quarters in London for
the profession. Here the Society remained until 1889, in
which year it removed to the handsome premises it now
oecupies at 20 Hanover Square, Additional gpace has en-
abled the Council to still further increase the accommoda-
tion for other societies. The Society possesges a fine library
of about 40 000 volumes; the utility of this is greatly in-
creased by the Fellows being able to borrow books for use at
their own homes. There is also an extensive collection of
engraved portraits of members of the profession. 'The cele-
brated Chamberlen midwifery instruments are in the posges-
sion of the Bociety. In 1872 the Society undertook to admin-
ister the fund which had been raised to found a memorial to
Marshall Hall. It was decided that the memorial should
take the form of a prize to be given every five years for the
best original work done during that period on the nervous
gystem. The first award was made in 1878, Dr. Hughlings
ackson being the recipient of the prize.

THE WESTMINSTER MEDICAL SOCIETY

was founded by Sir C. Mansfield Clarke and Sir Benjamin
Brodie in 1809; its meetings were held at the School of
Medicine in Great Windmill Street. For some years the
Bociety seemed almost to be an appenda%e of the school,
every student who attended the lectures becoming also a
member of the Society. In 1824 it is said to have had about
1,000 members. After the breaking up of the Windmill Street
School the Society met in Eaclwilfe sStreet, from there it went
back to Windmill Street, then it met in Exeter Hall, and last
of all moved to Bavile Row. During its first occupation of
Windmill Street no rent was paid, and so the Society was in
a flourishing financial position; at the other places the
necessary rent caused a drain on the funds. e interest
in the meetings gradunally declined, until in 1843 the Society
was reduced to about twelve members; then it took a new
lease of life, and at its close it showed 275 names on the
books. The Society took the lead in discussing the nature
and treatment of cholera during the epidemic of 1832, and in
its discussions on the Anatomy Bill it did much to do away
with the popunlar prejudice against that measure. During
the Fresidency of Mr. Hird, in 1849-50, steps were taken for
amalgamating the Westminster and the Medical Societies,
and guring Dr. Murphy’s term of office this was successiully
carried out. The motion for amalgamation was unanimously

# The following anecdote of Goldsmith, related by Washington Irving,
has reference to the Society’'s honse: ' He was ope uwmn% at the house
of 8ir William Chambers, in Berners Street, seated at a whist table, with
8ir William, Lady Chambers, and Baretti, when all at once he threw
down hia cards, hurried out of the room and into the street. He re-
turned in an instant, resumed his seat, and the game went on. BSir
William, after a little hesitation, ventured to ask the cause of his retreat,
fearing he had been overcome ’bp the heat of the room. ‘Mot at all)
replied Goldsmith ; * but in truth I could not bear to hear that unfortu-
nate woman in the street, half singing, half sobbing, for such tunes
could only arise from the extremity of distress; her voice grated pain-
fully on my ear and jarred my frame, so that I could not rest until I had
gent her away.! It wasin fact a poor ballad singer, whose cracked voice
had been heard by others of the party, but without having the same
effect on their sensibilities.”

SRR S T ——
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Tae RovAr Meprco-BorANicAn Socrery oF Loxpox

was founded in 1821 mainly by the efforts of Joh
Frost, who held the office of Director. The avgu?reg
object of the Snme!iy was for ‘‘the purpose of investi-
gating, by means of communications, lectures, and ex-
periments, the medicinal properties, botanical characters
and chemical constituents of plants; for anmuraginé
the study of the materia mediea of all countries, ete,”
Frost was only 18 years of age when he gtarted the
Society, and by his perseverance and impudence he soon put
iton a good basis. The home of the Society was at 32, Sack-
ville Btreet, Piccadilly, and Dr, William G. Maton, F.R.B.,
was the first Fmsidant. His successors were Dr. Bree, Sir
James McGrigor, and Earl Stanhope. Frost obtained not
only the chief men of science of his day as members
of the Bociety, but also politicians and men of letters;
it is said that he had twelve Bovereigns on the list of
members. His mode of obtaining these names was to present
an elaborate albnm containing the signatures of the members
to any distinguished man whom he desired to ecatch, and to
inform him that he had been elected an honorary member.
By this means he not only increased his list of members, but
put together a most interesting and valuable collection of
antographs. At the disappearance of Frost after the quarrel
between him and the Society, the book vanished, and has
never since been heard of. This is to be regretted, as it con-
tained signatures of great interest. Some of the subterfuges
to which Frost had resource for getting his book signed are
well-nigh incredible : Having more than once failed to get
an andience with the Duke of Wellington, Frost obtained the
uniform of a lieuntenant-general, and attended a levée o
general officers at Apsley House. By sheer impudence he
obtained an audience, and added the Duke’s signature to his
list. A most amusing account of this will be found in the
Life of the Rev. R. H. Barham, vol. i, p. 176. So greatly
were some of the foreign potentates impressed with the im-
portance of Frost and his Society that two of them sent the
ingignia of one of their minor orders to the Director. These
Frost appropriated and duly wore at all meetings of the
Society. Some of the papers read were of considerable in-
terest and importance, but, especially in the later years, no
proper supervision was exercised in the matter laid before
the Society; in fact, Earl Stanhope wounld admit anything
which could be classed under the head of medieal botany.
To such an extent was this carried, that Mr. Clarke® relates
the case of a keeper of a herb bath who “read a paper to
show that influenza, at that time epidemiec, was caused by
the cows eating buttercups, which in that season were most
rolific.” Frost's conduct became at last so overbearing that
is colleagues could not submit to it. The result of the
narrel was that the office of Director was abolished, and
rost himself was expelled from the Society. The other
Eeeret%% was Dr. Sigmond, a man of very considerable learn-
ing. enever there was a lack of material for discussion,
it was customary to fall back on Dr. Sigmond for a paper ;
among his communications may be mentioned one which in
1834 he brought before the Society on the subject of Endermic
Medication. Three parts of Transactions were issued, the first

¥ Autobiographical Recolleciions of the Medical Profession, p. 240






40

lunatic asylume in the kingdom. The circular was si
Dr. Bamuel Hiteh, the resident physician of the Glcill:ltlcetfétgi
County Asylum, and asked whether, in starting the Associa-
tion, co-operation might be expected. Forty-four favourable
replies were received, and a meeting of those who agreed to
}mn the Association was held at the Gloucester Asylum on
uly 27th, 1841. At this meeting the Association was formally
started, and it was decided to meet annually at a private or
public lunatic asylum. For some time the Association con-
templated publishing a journal, but it was not until 1852 that
1t was definitely decided to issue one. The title chosen was
the Asylum Journal of Mental Science, and Dr. Bucknill was
appointed the first editor. In 1858 the title was changed to
the Journal of Mental Secience, under which name it still
appears.

S s 1%‘4131 ISYDEEEAH SocieTy
was formed in or the purpose of meeting certain
deficiencies in the diffusion of meﬂr?cal literature n%t likely
to be supplied by the efforts of individuals. The Society
issned between the years 1844 and 1857 many valuable works,
including editions of Paulus Hgineta, Rhazes, Hippocrates
and Aretseus. In 1857 the Society was dissolved, the Counci
iving as its reason for this act that the work for which the
iety was established was completed.

e dTEEthNEw SYpENHAM BooIirTy

was established in the year 1858 for the purpose of carryin
on the work aband{medyby the original Ea?:ie?; Dr. C. J. Bg.
Williams was elected the first President; the success of the
Bociety, hewever, has been mainly due to Mr, Jonathan
Hutchingon, who has held the post of honorary secretary
from the foundation of the Society until the present time,
In addition to publishing many useful books, the Society has
issued an Atlas of Pathology and another of Diseases of the
Skin, and has partly completed a Dictionary of Medical Terms.

Trr WesTErN MEDICAL AND SURGICAL BoCIETY

was founded in 1845, and held its meetings in Sloane Street. :

Sir Benjamin Brodie was one of its presidents, and his presi-
dential address is printed in Mr. Charles Hawking’s edition
of Brodie's works. The Society had a fair library of modern
books; these chiefly came from the Chelsea and Brompton
Medical Society, which presented the books which had been
in circulation during the year previous to their de%usit in
the library of the Western Medical and Surgical Society.
Owing to a great decrease in the number of members, which
was &ieﬂ caused by the establishment of other London
gocieties, the Western came to an end in 1871. The books
belonging to the Society were given to the Medical Library at
8t. George’s Hospital, to which a large number of the mem-

bers belonged.

Tae PATHOLOGICAL SoCIETY OF LONDON. _

In February, 1846, Dr. Edward Bentley, of Guy’s Hospital,
made an endeavour to start a separate society for the dis-
cussion of pathological subjects., This need was felt from
the reluctance there was in the existing societies to devote
any of their meetings solely to pathology. Dr. Bentley and
Mr. Nathaniel Ward were appointed secretaries of a pro-
visional committee formed to make the preliminary arrange-
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children. On the motion of Dr. Tyler Smith, seconded b
Dr. Granville, it was agreed to starta Society on the lines lai
down. In 1825 an attempt had been made by Dr. Granville
to start a similar Society. A meeting was held at his house,
under the chairmanship of 8ir Charles M. Clarke, for the dis-
cussion of the subject. To the majority of those present the
scheme, ag proposed by Dr. Granville, seemed too large, and
only that part of it was adopted which dealt with the political
or gtate part of the question. Dr. Granville claimed that this
was not without result, as by the action of that Society ob-
stetricians had been enabled to take a more honourable

lace amongst the medical practitioners of the three corporate

odies. The first meeting of the Obstetrical Society was held
on January 5th, 1859, Dr. Rigby, the first President, being in
the chair. The meetings have always been held in the house
of the Royal Medical and Chirurgical Society, but in 1868
apartments were opened at 291, Regent Street, for the Society’s
library and museum ; in 1882 the Society took rooms at 54,
Berners Street. When the Royal Medical and Chirurgical
Society moved to Hanover Square the Obstetrical went with
them. The Society has a good library, the books from which
are lent out to the Fellows for use at home; there is also a
museum of casts, models, and instruments relating to the
obstetric art.

Ter BEAUMONT MEDICAL SOCIETY
was started in 1865, and held its meetings at the Beaumont
Iglrs;itut-inn, Mile End. The Society came to an end in 1876 or
1877.

TeEE CLINICAL BocIETY OF LONDON.

The Clinical Bociety owes its origin mainly to the energy
of Dre. Headlam Greenhow and Burdon Sanderson, Under the
presidency of the former physician, a private meeting was held
at 49, Queen Anne Street on October 29th, 1867, to take into
consideration the desirability of forming a Society *for the
cultivation and promotion of practical medicine and surgery
by the collection of cases of interest, especially of such as
bear upon undetermined questions in pathology and thera-
peutics.” . At this meeting a Provisional Committee was
appointed to carry out this object, and a Subcommittee, con-
gisting of Dr, Buchagan, Mr. Callender, Dr. Greenhow, Mr,
Heath, Dr, Ringer, and Dr. Burdon Sanderson was nomi-
nated to prepare a draft set of rules for the Society. Invita-
tions to join the Bociety were then sent round to the
members of the staffs of all the recognised metropolitan
hospitals and medical gchools, and it was determined to hold
a meeting on December 9th, 1867, of all who should have
signified their intention of joining the new Society. At this
meeting it was reported that 110 original members had joined
the Society. Dr. Greenhow was voted to the chair, and the
election of the first officers took place, with the result that
Sir Thomas Watson was algﬂaintad the first President, and
Dr. Burdon Sanderson and r. Callender the first Secretaries.
The Society has regularly issued volumes of Transactions
gince 1868. In 1883 a Committee, under the chairmanship of
Dr. Ord, was appointed to consider the subject of Myxedema ;
this Committee reported to the Society %n 1888, and their
valuable report was issued asa Supplement to the twenty-
first volume of the Transactions. In 1892, as a Supplement to
the twenty-fifth volume, the Society issued, under the
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March of the same lyear the first general meeting was held
for the purpose of ¢ ecting officers and drawing up rules. Sir
George Johnson was elected the first President, and the
Bociety began its ordinary business on April 12th. The Pro-
ceedings are issued in a Beparate form, and are published soon
after each meeting,

] Tae Sociery oF Meprcar PrONOGRAPHERS

chiefly owes its existence to the ener%f of Dr. Gowers., In
July, 1894, an appeal was made by Dr. Gowers, Dr. Gray, of
Oxford, and Dr. James Neil, of the Warneford Asylum, for
the organisation of practitioners and students of medicine
who were in the habit of uain'f shorthand. In reply to this
appeal 152 names were receive ; of these 112 were resident in
the United Kingdom, 34 in America, 2 in India, and 4 in
South Africa, On this basis the Society was started; it has
a journal of its own printed in shorthand, with the title of
the Pkanggm hic Record g Clinteal Teaching and Medical
Science. For the use of medical students it has also issued a
p&mghlet. in shorthand entitled ““The Use of Shorthand by
the Student, with examples.” Although this Society is not
strictly a London one it is included here on account of its
unique position, this being the first attempt of any one of
the learned professions to cultivate shorthand for profes-
Bional purposes.

TeE NorTH-WEST LONDON CLINICAL SOCIETY
was started at the end of 1894, The meetings, which are held
at the North-West London Hospital, are entirely clinical, no
set papers being read. Sir Richard Quain is the first Presi-
dent of the Society.

THE DERMATOLOGICAL SOCIETY OF GREAT BRITAIN AND
: IRELAND i
was formed in 1894, At the preliminary meeting held on
April 12th Dr, Pye-Smith was elected President. A congress
fo inaugurate the new Society was held at the rooms of the
Royal f‘[eﬂical and Chirurgical Society on May 30th, when
the President delivered his inangural address,
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stitution and a separate estate, though it wa -
poses under the control of the Priogrsr. It fi}fg ?n&eaéjg
eight brethren and four sisters, the community heing Bubject’.
to the rule of St. Austin. It was a hospital from the begin-
ning, and not a mere almshouse, St. Thomas Becket, the
ggﬂrﬂ&mhhlshop of Canterbury, was one of its early bene-

The hospital had an uninterrupted existence until the dis-
solution u? the Priory in 1637, It then passed with its rgs-r
venues into the possession of Henry 1‘.’11.113 who refounded it
by Royal Charter in 1544, at the petition of Sir Richard Gres-
]{ami]Lurd Mayor of London, and father of that Sir Thomas
Gresham, who built the Royal Exchange. A fresh Charter
was granted in 1547, giving back to the foundation the greater
part of its former revenues. It then contained 100 beds, it
now has a service of 700 beds ; there were then but few out-
patients, they now amount to more than 175,000 annually.

For man% years the hospital seems to have been a group of
detached ‘buildings. The majority of these disappeared
about 1725, to make way for the present quadrangle, built by
Gibbs in 1730. The main entrance, however, remains where
it has always been, and although it was rebuilt in 1702, and
was closed for many years, we can think as we pass through
it that it was traversed 770 years ago by men whose fathers
saw William the First enter London as a conqueror. It wit-
nessed a notable sight on Saturday morning, June 15th, 1381, for
Wat Tyler, by altercating with the king (Richard the Second)
in the open space which still exists immediately in front of
the hospital, so enraged the Mayor, William Walworth, that
he arrested him on the head with a sound blow, Whereupon
Wat Tyler furiously struck the Mayor with his dagger, but
hurt him not, by reason he was well armed. The Mayor,
having received his stroke, drew his baslard (or long dagger
ﬁenerallj' worn suspended from the girdle, which when

ecorated with silver, could only be *‘ carried by those
ossessed of a iﬂaﬂ? income of £20) and grievously wounded
at in the neck, and withal gave him a great blow on the
head Wat, spurring his horse, cried to the commons to
revenge him. The horse bare him about eighty feet from the
place, and there he fell down half dead ; and by-and-by they
which attended the king, environed him about so as he was
not seen of his company. Many of them thrust him in divers
places of his body, and drew him into the hospital of St. Bar-
tholomew, from whence again the Ma.%ur caused him to be
drawn into Smithfield, and there to be beheaded.”

The hospital still presents many features of interest attest-
ing its ancient and, in many respects, unique position. It
forms a parish in itself, and has within its walls a small
parish church served by the Vicar, or as he is known techni-
cally ‘‘the hospitaller.” It possesses, too, a large hall, to
which access is obtained by a noble staircase whose walls are
ornamented with frescoes painted by Hogarth. The hall
itself contains numerous paintings,some of a very high order
of merit, notably the picture of Percivall Pott, by Sir Joshua
Reynolds, and of Abernethy, by Bir Thomas_ﬁawrﬂnce.

he liberality of its late Treasurer, 8ir Sidney Waterlow,
long provided the hospital with a most suitable and eflicient
convalescent home at High%ata, but the munificence of Mr.
Kettlewell superseded this home hg a much larger one at
Swanley in Kent. It was opened on July 13th, 1885.
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refounder ; finally it was called the Hogpital of St,

the Apostle. It congigted, like the Hua;grtal of Bt. anu!ﬁ
mew’s, of a custos o1 master, of brethren, and of three lay
gisters, who, in 1535, had the charge of forty beds for poor
and infirm people who were to be supplied with food and firing.

The hospital was surrendered to the Kingat the disgolution
of the monasteries in 15638, and, although some efforts were
made by Gresham to refound it, nothing was done effectually
until the citizens of London, aided and encouraged by Bisho
Ridley, took the matter in bhand, when King Edward
granted letters patent to it in 1558 and endowed it with 4,000
m%rﬁm Eg *Re Ee&r-

e third hospital —built in 1228 — became so ruinom
and deficient that it was rebuilt a little nearer to Tuule;
Street about 1507. This hosiital was in many respects a
poorhouse rather than a true hospital, but in 1571 Mr. Bull
was appointed physician to the hospital at a salary of 20
marks a year, whilet the surgeon was paid for those cases
which he cured, A few years later there was an apothecary
and herb-woman, who received £4 a year for physical herbs,
whilst in 16562 a midwife was paid 2s. 6d. for her help to two
poor women. The status of none of these officers was high ;
they were all subordinate to an official governor, whilst the
gurgeon ranks between the shoemaker and the barber. Two
‘‘ fitting ministers” were appointed: one for the poor and
officers of the hospital, who was called ‘the hospitaller ;"
the other was for the parish of St. Thomas's Hospital, The
hospital had again fallen into decay in 1694, after it had been
extensively used asamilitary and naval hospital for the recep-
tion of soldiers and sailors wounded in the Dutch war. It was
rebuilt by the energy of SBir Robert Clayton, the ¢ Ishban”
of Dryden’s Absalom and Ahitophel, whose statue still stands
outside the present medical school buildings in Lambeth,
and the first mention of a medical school oceurs about this time.

The fame of Cheselden and of Mead raised the school to a
first-rate position, but the internal dissensions were so great
that its prestige soon began to decline, in spite of the fact
that it entered into an alliance with Guy’'s Hospital, by which
the students of one hospital attended the practice of both,
and although Bir Astley Cooper—the most popular and infiu-
ential man in his profession—was attached to it for many
years as lecturer on anatomy.

The separation between Guy's and 8t. Thomas’s Hospitals
took place in 1824, and St. Thomas’s remained in the Borough
until 1865, when its site was required for the London Bridge
railway station, and was sold for a sum of £300,000, The
hospital was then accommodated tempnmrilg on the site of
the Surrey Musie Hall until the. new buildings were
finished in 1870-71. These buildings are situated at
the foot of Westminster Bridge,. and eclose to Lambeth
Palace, the seat of the Archbishops of Canterbury. The
hospital now faces the Thames, and consist of eight
distinct buildings or pavilions, containing three tiers of
wards above the ground floor, and coupled together by
a double corridor, The school buildings are situated at the
west end of the block, and contain a first-rate museum.,
Amongst the many notable men who have been attached to
8t. Thomas's Hospital, none, perhaps, are more notable than
Sir Gilbert Blane and Sir John Simon, the pioneers of sani-

‘gry science in this country.
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Guy's HoSPITAL.

i rose directly out of St. Thomas’s Hospital,
angﬂﬁ;g angil;rlt;}a:ra rardxiaineg intimately associated with it.
Thomas Guy, a wealthy and benevolent citizen of London,
had aided materially in the expense of rebnilding a part of St.
Thomas’s Hospital at the %innmg of the Fi teenth cen-
tury. Earlyin 1721 the reco of 8t. Thomas’s Hospital con-
tain the following minute : * Our worthy governor and bene-
factor Thomas Guy, intending to found and erect an hospital
for incurables, in the close of this hospital, in the paris 0§
St. Thomas, we have agreed to grant him a lease......... 0
several parcels of ground at a ground rent of £17 14s. per
annum....... » A design was procured from Mr. Lane, an emi-
nent architect and surveyor, and the l:n:mldn:tf]g:l was carried out
so rapidly that it was roofed in before the death of the
founder on December 27th, 1724¢. In a little more than aweek
after his death Guy’s Hospital was opened, and on January
6th, 1725, sixty patients were admitted. The governing body
was incorporated by Act of Parliament in 1725, with a presi-
dent and treasurer as permanent officers. Two pt];ialmana and
two surgeons were appointed in May, 1725, to take charge of
the patients, a matron, eleven sisters, and eight nurses havin
been appointed a few weeks earlier. The medical schoo
attached to Guy’s very soon rose into repute, and it has always
been maintained in a state of the highest efficiency. One of
the earliest public courses on anatomy and surgery was that

iven by Samuel Sharp, surgeon to the hospital from 1733 to

767. The great repute of the surgical and anatomical teach-
ing was maintained by Sir Astley Cooper, and in later years
by John Hilton. The long line of physicians has been even
more distingnished than that of the surgeons, and is certainly
the noblest list possessed by anc{ ospital in London.
Wollaston and Bright, Addison and Golding-Bird, Gull and
Habershon, Moxon and Hilton-Fagge, not to mention those
who are happily yet alive, followed each other in a remark-
able succession, 1t is not surprising that the students flocked
to such teachers, and that in spite of those unseemly disputes
and of the lives too soon cut short, which a few years ago
threatened to sap the vitality of the school, Guy’s Hospital
now boasts one of the largest and most active of the metro-
politan schools of medicine,

The connection between St. Thomas’s and Guy’s Hospitals
was most intimate between the years 1768 and 1824, and it
was then that the terms * The Borough Hospitals ” and ** The
United Hospitals” came into use. The surgical lectures
duaring this period were given at St. Thomas’s Hospital, and
the medical lectures at Guy’s ; and the students of each hos-
pital had the right to attend the practice and teaching at
the other. Some friction eventunally arising between Sir
Astley Gﬂﬂl}f)&l’ and J. H. Green, Mr. Harrison. the autocratic
treasurer of Guy’s Hospital, took the matter into his own
hands, and built a separate medical school for the students
of his hospital, which was in use on June 21st, 1826, The
privilege of attending the practice of the two hospitals re-
mained until December, 1836, when the students themselves
came to loggerheads, and the arrangement was formally
cancelled.

The hospital is an interesting one as it now stands, for it is
a unique combination of the new and of the old. Its labora-
tories are excellent. The museam contains a most remarkable



62

collection of models in wax representing very various patho-
logical conditions. They were made by Mr.qfoﬁﬂ,whﬂ 8 pt;';t. his
life in bringing his curious art to Ferfeetiﬁn. The school ig
further noteworthy for the special attention which it has
recently given to the instruction of dental students,

Tue LoxpoNn HosprTar.

The London Hospital contains 786 beds, and being situated
in Whitechapel, near the docks and in the poorest part of
London, it has perhaps greater clinical resources than any of
the metropolitan hospitals. It commenced its existence in
1740 as a small infirmary in Featherstone Street. It was then
moved to Prescott Street, Goodman’s Fields, a neighbourhood
inhabited then, as now, by a large Jewish population. Addi-
tional accommodation was soon required, and buildings were
erected in 1757 upon a portion of the site which the hospital
now occupies, and about this time the governors were in-
corporated by a Royal Charter. The west wing was opened
in 1831, the east wing a few years later, and farther improve-
ments have recently been made, so that the hospi now
boasts itself the largest in Great Britain. The medical school
began when the first student was admitted in January, 1741.
Mr. Harrison in 1749 obtained permission of the hospital
anthorities to deliver a course of lectures -on surgery
within the hospital, and a similar permission was
accorded to Mr. Thomson in 1755, This school was
therefore one of the earliest in England. Isolated
courses of lectures gave place in 1783 to systematic in-
struction carried out in a building erected for the purpose,
and chiefly at the expense of Sir William Blizard, one of the
most active surgeons of his day. The hospital iz well
worthy of a visit; although it is situnated in the heart of the
most populous part of London, it has contrived to retain a
considerable amount of garden. It has an excellent museum,
and eplendid accommodation for students. It has always
been the home of good clinical teaching, for a course of
lectures on eclinieal medicine were given in 1792, and were
successfully resamed after an interval by Dr. Billing in 1823.
Here, too, about 1773 Mr. He Thomson (surgeon to the
hnapftal 1753-1780) amputated the hip for the second, or if his
case was later than Perrault's, for the third time in the history
of the operation. :

Sir Andrew Clark and Sir Morell Mackenzie have been
attached to the hospital as physicians. John Scott, from
whom are derived Scott’s dressing and ointment; Curling,
Critchett, and Jomathan Hutchinson, amongst many other
illustrious men, have been surgeons.

Tar WesTMINSTER HOSPITAL.

The Westminster Hospital, sitnated in Broad Sanctuary,
under the very shadow of Westminster Abbey, is remarkable
as being the first general hospital founded, and entirely sup-

orted %_F voluntary contributions. 1t was originally esta-

lished in 1719 by several individuals, who had previously
made common cause for the relief of sick prisoners in New-
gate, the Clink, and other prisons of the metropolis. A house
was taken in Petty France, now called York Street, on Ma!:ch
25th, 1720, and patients were admitted npon the following
May 11th, This hospital was known as the Infirmary for the
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SLlecd (R { et 5T. MARY'S, PADDINGTON. Aoy /10 ) 8
Mr. Haynes Walton, in addressing himsell to the younger ‘part’ of |
hearers, the pupils and new-comers, thought it well to tell them somest
of their educational home, to cast o retrospective eye and to glance ab
things that were. It was right that the history of the establishment shog
be unfolded at that time, fifteen yenrs from its inaapuration, and that|
present policy should be developed. There had been no failares, In the p
was registered meraly the difficulty of commencement, bat there were re 2or
the triumphs of success. Ir. Walton then gave a sketch of the unprecedent
guccess of the hospital, and allnded to the enlargements in the now
which was being built, praising its internal a.rrmgiuﬁuts and orzaniaatiol
The marked guccess of the school was then poin ont, and this ha cf
sidered more astounding than the successes of the hospital, as the conditis
neecegeary for its proeperity were of a different nature and more difficalt ol
reached. No happy aceident brought this about. The moast.promising featu
in the new hospital was the largencss and comploteness of ita staff, and &
high reputation of the individual members for teaching, writing, and pe
tical knowledge. Bt. Mary's was well represented in the profession, a8
examining-boards of their colloges and other bodies testifiel. It stood hij
in public estimation, and it had pleased her Gracious Majosty to look
for some to be among those whom she selected to attend ber and tha
most dear to her. Ho polnted out the general proficiency of the stnde
who had been educated there. It was, he said, the subject of remark]
examiners, as well as in private life. In the list of honours the students I
not disappointed the professora, A large numbar had soughtthe compaids
examinations, and entered the poblic services—a fact which showed &8
these men had confilence in their acquiremen s. In conclosion, he urg
the stucents to work with their teachers. They woull be as pleased to aisi
as the students to get their help., The diligence of the pupil ronsed
mnster. For them to sosure the highest attainable advantages there mased
arsocistion—a social tie ; and throngh this would arise proper ressostd
botl gides. The stadents should rogard the professwors as friends ready
help them, and as fellow-students only a little in advance,
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hospital. The hospital was fitted up, at the instance of D
Tilbury Fox, the phfﬁician to the Skin Department, with EI:]
elaborate system of medicated baths, which under certain

conditions are available for other tl ti
hospital. 1an patients of the

Kina's CoLLEGE AND 178 HOSPITAL.

The origin of King's College, London, was a meeting held
at the Freemasons’ Tavern on June 21st, 1828, when the Duke
of Wellington took the chair. It was decided that a college
for general education should be founded in the metropolis, in
which, while the various branches of literature and science
are made the subjects of instruction, it was to be an essential

art of the system to imbue the minds of youth with a know-
edge of the doctrines and duties of Christianity as inculcated
by the United Church of England and Ireland. The College,
being under the immediate patronage of George 1V, was to
be called “* King’s College.” Letters patent were granted to
it on August 14th, 1829, and the new institution was placed
under the care of various high officials and Church digni-
taries. A secession of the extreme Protestant party took
lace in 1829, and it was not until October 8th, 1831, that the
Jollege was formally opened. The Chairs in the Medical
Department were then occupied by J. H. Green, Herbert
Mayo, Dr. Bisset Hawkins, Dr. Frank Hawkins, Richard
Partridge, and Dr. R. Ferguson. The connection of the
College with the Established Chureh has always been main-
tained, and has lately been reaffirmed by the Council, though
students of almost all religions and sects have been pupila.
King’s College has done good service to the medical profes-
sion by constantly advocating the necessity of a sound pre-
liminary education for medical students,

King’'s College Hospital arose naturally ont of the require-
ments of the medical department of the College, and it was
established chiefly by the exertions of Dr. R. B. Todd, the
Professor of General Anatomy and Physiology. It issituated
at some little distance from the College and was, until recently,
surrounded by slums of the worst description. It was opened
in 1839, upon the site of the old 8t. Clement Danes Work-
house in Portugal Street, at the back of Lincoln’s Inn Fields,
and unless re;i-ort lies more than usnal a part of the buildin
of the hospital were erected upon a burial ground in whi
upwards of 5,600 bodies had been interred within the previous
twenty-five years. One hundred and twenty beds were utilised
in 1839, but in 1849 it was found that the accommodation was
insufficient both for the patients and the studenta. The pre-
sent building was erected and opened upon the old site in
1861. The nursing was in the hands of a voluntary nursing
gisterhood from 1856 to 1885, but since that time the nursin
arrangements have been entirely in the hands of the Hospi
Committee. .

King’s College 8chool and Hospital have had a long array
of glorious names upon its staff. 8ir Thomas Watson de-
livered his classical lectures upon medicine in the school soon
after it was opened, Dr. Paris occupied the Chair of Materia
Medica, Sir William Fergusson was Surgeon to the charity for
many years, Sir William Bowman was %)phthalmic Surgeon,
Ferrier gained his laurels here, Sir Joseph Lister perfected his
system and made the hospital known throughout the world as
t.ﬁe home of antiseptic surgery.










